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SIMON, District Judge.

In this putative class aom, Plaintiffs Larry and Rondarnett (“Plaintiffs” or “the
Arnetts”) contend that Defendants Bank of Ainar N.A. and BAC Home Loan Servicing, L:P.
(“Defendants” or “BOA") “forced”Plaintiffs and the other putag class members “to purchase
and/or maintain flood insurance in excesshef amounts required by federal law, in amounts
greater than Defendants’ seadiiaterest in the property, amdntrary to the amounts agreed
upon in the relevant loan and mortgage docunie@tamplaint (“Compl.”) at § 2 (Dkt. 1). In
their Complaint, the Arnetts assert statutosirak for violation othe Truth in Lending Act
(“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1601t seq.the Real Estate SettlemdPrtocedures Act (“RESPA”), 12
U.S.C. § 2601et seq.and Oregon’s Unlawful Debt Cotigon Practices Act (‘UDCPA”), Or.

Rev. Stat. § 646.639. The Arnetts adssert four common law claims. Before the court is

! Bank of America, N.A. and BAC Home &n Servicing, L.P. merged in July 2011.
Compl. at 113; Answer at | 13; Defs.” Mem. at 1 n.1.
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Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadifigjgt. 25). For the reams discussed below,

Defendants’ motion is granted witbspect to Plaintiffs’ statutorglaims and the tort claims of

unjust enrichment and breach of fiduciary duty denied with respect to Plaintiffs’ contract

claim (both express contract aimepblied covenant) and the remang tort claim of conversion.
BACKGROUND

A. National Flood Insurance Act

The Arnetts allegations are framed intgday the provisions of the National Flood
Insurance Act (“NFIA”), 42 U.S.C. 8 400&t seqCongress enacted NFIA in 1968 “in response
to a growing concern that the private insurainceistry was unable to offer reasonably priced
flood insurance on a national basiBlick v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. C¢205 F.3d 386, 387 (9th
Cir. 2000). NFIA aimed to alleviate thismmzern by providing fedally subsidized flood
insurance to individuals and orgaations in flood-pronareas. “The availability of government
subsidized flood insurance did not, however, prexadequate incentive to attract extensive local
community participation in the Flood PrograrMid-America Nat. Bank of Chicago v. First Sav.
& Loan Ass'n of S. Holland737 F.2d 638, 641 (7th Cir. 1984).

Congress later amended NFIA to require thdividuals or organizations situated in
federally designated special flood hazard drehgain flood insurance coverage in order to be
eligible for certain federal and private financihdy. In particular, federally regulated private
lenders are prohibited from making loans seciweckal property situatl in a special flood
hazard area unless the borrower obtains floodamse coverage for the life of the loan. 42

U.S.C. § 4012a(b)(1Paul v. Landsafe Flood Determination, In850 F.3d 511, 513 (5th Cir.

2 Special flood hazard areas are designated by the Administrator of the Federal
Emergency Management Agen8eed42 U.S.C. § 4101.
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2008) (“Any federally regulated heler making a loan secured bypraved real estate located in
a designated flood-risk zone must as a comlitif making the loan require the purchase of
insurance through the Natiorfdbod Insurance Program.”).

In 1994, Congress again amended NFIA, providirag ifra borrower fails to maintain at
least a statutorily-set minimum amount of flandurance coverage, the lender is required to
purchase additional coverage on the borrower's b&H&fU.S.C. § 4012a(e)(2); Pub. L. No.
103-325, 108 Stat. 2166ee alsdHofstetter v. Chase Home Fin., LLSo. C 10-01313-WHA,
2010 WL 3259773 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 16, 2010). To datikis requirement, the amount of flood
insurance maintained on theoperty must be in “an amountlaast equal to the outstanding
principal balance of the loan or the maximlumit of coverage made available under the Act
with respect to the particul&ype of property, whichever lsss.” 42 U.S.C. § 4012a(b)(1).

B.  Factual Allegations'

In July 2008, the Arnetts obtained a ngaige loan for $135,000 from KeyBank National
Association (“KeyBank”) to puthase residential property Roseburg, Oregon. Compl. § 21. In
November 2008, Countrywide Bank took over sengf the Arnetts’ loan. Compl. § 26. BOA
later acquired Countrywidéd. The Arnetts allege that the “mgage was . . . transferred from

Countrywide Bank to BOA (when BOA acquired Countrywid&)d’

% Plaintiffs call this practie “force-placing” insurance.

* On review of a Rule 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings, all “allegations of fact
by the party opposing the motion are accepteduas &and are construatthe light most
favorable to that party Gen. Conference Corp. of Seventh-Day Adventists v. Seventh-Day
Adventist Congregational ChurcB87 F.2d 228, 230 (9th Cir. 1989).

®> BOA only admits “that it is currently the sérer of Plaintiffs’ mortgage loan.” Answer
1 26. BOA does not admit to owning the mortgage loan.
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Because the Arnetts’ property is locate@ispecial flood hazard area, NFIA required the
Arnetts to purchase flood insurance in orideobtain their mortgage loan from KeyBank.
Compl.  22. The Arnetts’ trust déeskcuring their loan does nof its own, expressly require
the Arnetts to obtain and maintain flood insw@nThe trust deed, howay requires the Arnetts
to “keep the improvements now existing or hetexaérected on the Property” insured against
any hazards “including, but not limited to, ¢mtiakes and floods, for which Lenders requires
insurance.” Dkt. 23-1, Ex. 1. It also permits theder to “obtain insurare coverage, at Lender’s
option and Borrower’s expense” in the everttithe Arnetts fail to maintain coveradg.

Section five of the Arnettdtust deed provides in part:
Borrower shall keep the improvement®w existing or hereafter erected

on the Property insured against loss Iog,fhazards included within the term

“extended coverage,” and any otlezards including, but not limited to,

earthquakes and floods, for which Lender rezpiinsurance. This insurance shall

be maintained in the amounts (includingldetible levels) and for the periods that

Lender requires. What Lender requiressuant to the preceding sentences can

change during the term of the Loan. . ..

If Borrower fails to maintain any of the coverages described above,

Lender may obtain insurance coveragelender’s option and Borrower’s
expense.

On the same day that the Arnetts sigtietrust deed, the Arnetts also signed a
document titled “Notice of Speci&lood Hazards and Availabilityf Federal Disaster Relief
Assistance” (hereinafter the “NSFH”). DI&3-1, Ex. 2. Unlike the trust deed, the NSFH

expressly required the Arnettsgarchase and maintain flood imance. It provides in part:

® Under Oregon law, lenders and borrowmisy secure residential home loans with
either a mortgage or a trust de8ee generallPr. Rev. Stat. Chapters 86 and 88. Because the
term “mortgage” is used colloquially to referlioth mortgages and trust deeds, and because the
parties often refer to the Arnetts’ trust deedne@smortgage in their briefing, the court will use
the terms “trust deed” arfdhortgage” interchangeably.
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Federal law will not allow us to makeu the loan that you have applied
for if you do not purchase flood insurance. The flood insurance must be
maintained for the life of #aloan. If you fail to purchase or renew flood insurance
on the property, Federal law authorizesl @equires us to purchase the flood
insurance for you at your expense.

e At a minimum, flood insurance purchased must cover the lesser of:
(1) the outstanding principal balance of the loan; or

(2) the maximum amount of coveragdoated for the type of property
under the [National Flood Insance Program (“NFIP”)].

Flood insurance coverage under the NisIRmited to theoverall value of
the property securing the loan mirthe value of the land on which the
property is located.

Id. Near the bottom of the NSFite signature lines for bothetlborrower and the lender. The
Arnetts signed and dated the NSFH; thenmeo signature on tHae for the lender.

Before closing, the Arnetts received a doemttitled “Flood Insurance Requirements”
(hereinafter the “FIR”). Dkt. 23 Ex. 3. It contains the KeyBatdgo and states that the lender
“requires that an original flooshisurance policy (or applicationrfeuch insurance) and a prepaid
receipt for the first year’s premmu. . . be presented at closintgd’ It also provides that the
“enclosed Flood Notice must be sgghand returned to Lendetd. Like the NSFH, this
document defines the amount of crage required. The FIR provides:

Flood insurance coverage must be for the lower of:

- 100 % of the replacement cost of the insurable value of the improvement.

OR

- The maximum insurance availableden the appropriate National Flood
Insurance Administration Program.

OR
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- The Outstanding principal balancetbé loan plus any junior lien loan
amounts.

Id. Unlike the NSFH, the FIR does niotlude signature lines.

The Arnetts obtained a $250,000 flood inswepolicy from Harford Insurance
Company at the time the loan was originatedn@lo I 25. They also maintained an excess flood
insurance policy of $20300 from Lloyd’s of Londonld. The Arnetts obtained a separate and
independent policy for their garage totaling $27,300.

On September 14, 2010, BOA sent the Arnetettar stating that the Arnetts had failed
to maintain adequate flood insurance. Com@2{This letter stated that the Arnetts must obtain
$87,280 in additional flood insurance coverddelt also stated thdto maintain acceptable
insurance, we [Defendants] require that you ne@@mflood insurance coverage in an amount at
least equal to the lessafr (1) the maximum insurance avdila under the NFIP for participating
communities, which is currently $250,000; or (2 teplacement value of the improvements to
your Property.1d. In response to the letter 8Eptember 14, 2010, the Arnetts provided
Defendants with proof of adequate insurance. Compl. § 34. Nevertheless, on November 4, 2010,
Defendants obtained an $87,280 flood insaeapolicy (the “2010 Garage Policy*for the
Arnetts and charged the Arne$445.13 through an escrow acat. Compl. § 34; Answer { 34.
Several months later, Defendargfunded this amount. Answer { 34.

On June 16, 2011, Defendants sent another kettitie Arnetts assimg that the Arnetts
had no flood insurance covering the house o fireperty. Compl. § 37. The Arnetts replied
and attached proof that they had contthtee maintain a $250,000 flood insurance policy

covering the house. Compl38. Defendants disregarded thenetts reply and, on August 2,

" There do not appear to be any allegatiartae Complaint that this flood insurance
policy was intended to cover the Arnetts’ gard®@A, however, refers to this policy as the
“2010 Garage Policy” in their briefing; for ttsake of clarity, theaurt does so as well.
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2011, purchased a $250,000 flood insurance poliwy“‘tiome Policy”) on the Arnetts’ behalf.
Compl. 11 39-40. Defendants charged the Arnetistow account a premium of $2,448 for this
Home Policy. Compl. 1 40. Defendants purchabesipolicy from Balboa Insurance Group
(“Balboa”), formerly a whollyowned subsidiary of BOAd.; Compl. { 4. Defendants also
purchased a $22,500 flood insurance policy (the “2Badage Policy”) for the Arnetts’ detached
garage, and charged the Arnett's escrow accandditional premium of $114.75 for this
policy. Compl. § 40; Answer { 40.

Defendants refunded the premium for Hh@me Policy in October 2011. Answer { 40.
Defendants refunded $57.68 toward the 2011 GaPadjey premium in December 2011. Thus,
at present, Defendants have fully refundeslfttst two flood insurance policies—the 2010
Garage Policy and the Home Policy—that tipetychased on the Arnetts’ behalf and have
refunded approximately one-half of the premitor the third policy—the 2011 Garage Policy.
SeeReply Memorandum in Support (“Deffeply”) at 1 n.2 (Dkt. 51).

As explained above, NFIA requires lendeypurchase additional flood insurance
coverage on behalf of a borrower when the beerdfails to maintain the statutorily-mandated
minimum amount of coverage. The Arnedtiege, however, that “BOA imposes [flood
insurance] coverage requirements beyond thatired by” NFIA. Compl 48. Furthermore, the
Arnetts contend that BOA engages “in [this] gie&]] in order to realize unfair financial gains
from class members. . . . By adding the adgbrce-placed insurance to borrowers’ loan
balances, Defendants earn additional intesegshe amounts charged, and cause borrowers to
incur additional costs and fees.” Compl. 1 4%iafy, the Arnetts allegthat by purchasing flood
insurance for its borrowers even when it is umssary or in excess of NFIA’s requirements,

Defendants earn commissions for Balboa and tiéer insurance aiffates[.]” Compl. {50.
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STANDARDS

A Rule 12(c) “motion for judgment on the pleadings faces the same test as a motion
under Rule 12(b)(6).McGlinchy v. Shell Chem. C&45 F.2d 802, 810 (9th Cir. 1988).
Dismissal for failure to state a claim under RL2£b)(6) “is proper ithere is a ‘lack of a
cognizable legal theory ordhabsence of sufficient facdieged under a cognizable legal
theory.” Conservation Force v. Salaza&46 F.3d 1240, 1242 (9th Cir. 2011) (quotBalistreri
v. Pacifica Police Dep;t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir.1988)).dddition, “to survive a motion to
dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter to state a facially plausible claim to
relief.” Shroyer v. New Cingular Wireless Services,,1622 F.3d 1035, 1041 (9th Cir. 2010)
(citing Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009pee also Cafasso, United States ex rel. v.
Gen. Dynamics C4 Sys., In637 F.3d 1047, 1054 n.4 (9th Cir. 201hp@al standard applies to
review of Rule 12(c) motions).

DISCUSSION

In their Complaint, the Arnetts assert fmammon law claims and three statutory claims.
Their claims are: (1) breach of contract, inchglboth breach of express contract and breach of
the implied covenant of good faith and fair degji(2) unjust enrichment; (3) conversion; (4)
breach of fiduciary duty; (5) violation oféhTruth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1601,
et seq. (6) violation of the Real Estate Settlem@®rocedures Act (‘RESPA”), 12 U.S.C. § 2601,
et seqg.and (7) violation of Oregon’s Unlawful DeCollection Practices Act (“UDCPA"), Or.
Rev. Stat. 8 646.639. Each of the Arnetts’ clainesfeamed by their claim for breach of express

contract. The court, thereforgegins with that claim.
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A. Breach of Express Contract

To state a claim for breach of contract un@eegon law, a “plaintiff must allege the
existence of a contract, its reént terms, plaintiff's full pedrmance and lack of breach and
defendant’s breach resultingdamage to plaintiff.Slover v. Oregon State Bd. of Clinical Soc.
Workers 144 Or. App. 565, 570 (1996) (internal qumtatmarks omitted). The Arnetts allege
that BOA breached the “original mortgage contract” by requiring the Arnetts to maintain more
flood insurance than required byetterms of the contract. Comfilf 93-97. BOA argues that the
Arnetts’ breach of contract claim mustdiemissed because the “[m]ortgage unambiguously
grants Bank of America the rigto choose the ‘amounts’ obibd insurance on the property[.]”
Defendants’ Memorandum in Support (“Defs.” Mem.”) at 13 (Dkt. 26).

1. The documents constituting the contract

Before interpreting a written contract, the court must determine what documents form the
contract. The Arnetts contend tlilaé contract between the partemsists of the trust deed, the
NSFH, and the FIR. The Complaint quotes a portibtihe FIR and refers to it as the “original
contract.” Compl. 1 95. In their briefing, the Attseargue that the NSFH is also “part of the
contract formed by the parties at the timeloking.” Plaintiffs’"Memorandum in Opposition
(“Pls.” Mem.”) at 14 (Dkt. 40). BA disagrees. It maintains thagither the FIR nor the NSFH is
“part of the mortgage contract. The Mortgaigelf does not incorpate either of the Flood
Notices by reference, nor does either of the Fotices indicate it is part of the Mortgage.”
Defs.” Mem. at 14.

Under Oregon law, “[o]lne document nawat expressly incorporate the other by
reference if the connection between them is unmistakabMglfinis v. Lind 198 Or. App. 139,

149 (2005). Oregon courts have itged three factors that, wheresent together, demonstrate
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that multiple documents should be construed asisgle contract: (1) the documents are made by
the same partiesjays v. Hug243 Or. 175, 177 (1966); (2) the documents are executed at or
about the same timal.; and (3) the documents arerfpaf the same transactioid,; First

Interstate Bank of Oregon, N.A. v. Morri20 Or. App. 46, 48 (1993).

The trust deed and the NSFH satisfy all tHeextors. First, both documents reference the
same parties—the Arnetts and the originatller, KeyBank. Second, the Arnetts signed both
documents on the same day. Third, each documerdinerierms suggesting that it is part of the
same transaction—the Arnetts’ home loan. BothArnetts and BOA ageethat the NSFH was
provided to the Arnetts in connection with ttlesing. Defs.” Mem. at 14; PIls.” Mem. at 14.
Moreover, the NSFH references the loan, thedlmsurance requirements required by the lender
to complete the loan, and the closing. In additthe NSFH containgdlicia or language of a
contract. The NSFH states that “Borrowedgjeeto furnish” a flood insurance application and
proof of paymentSee Dalton v. Robert Jahn Cgor@09 Or. App. 120, 134 (the phrase “it is
agreed” is language that reflectsst@nce of a contract). The NSE#s0 contains signature lines
for both the borrowers and the lendalthough the lender line is unsignédjhe court finds,
therefore, that the trust deadd the NSFH must be reamjether as a single contract.

The court is not convinced, howay that the FIR is part ¢ifie contact. The FIR does not

name the Arnetts; instead, it appears to fugra notice. In additn, there is no evidence

8 BOA contends that NSFH is not a aamt, but merely a notice that “KeyBank was
required to provide under federal banking regatati” Defs.” Reply a. BOA asserts that the
language of the NSFH “is identical” to tleguage in a sample notice provided in the
regulationsld.; seel2 C.F.R. Pt. 22, App. A. BOA’s assertion, however, is not entirely correct.
Although the language in the sample notice megécthe main body of text in the NSFH, the
NSFH contains additional text not in thergae notice, including the statement that
“Borrower(s) agree to furnish,” and the signatiines for borrower and lender. KeyBank’s
additions to the sample notice suggest thalNNBEH was also intended not only to serve as a
notice, but was intended to fornpartion of the parties’ contract.
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demonstratingvhenthe Arnetts received the FIR; iadt, the FIR’s texsuggests that it may
have been provided some time before theimtpd=inally, unlike the NSFH, the FIR does not
have indicia of contract, such as thedaage of agreement or signature lines.

2. The alleged breach

The Arnetts claim that Defendants breached“tdriginal mortgage contract,” Compl.
1 95, by requiring “payment for additional andessive flood insurance that was not required
under the contract.” Compl. 1 97. BOA argues thdid not breach the contract because, even
when construing the NSFH as part of the cactt the contract “unambiguously” afforded BOA
the discretion to set the amouwnftflood insurance required. Deflem. at 13-15. To determine
whether the Arnetts’ aligations state a claim for breache ttourt must first interpret the
contract. Specificay, the court must decide whether the Arnetts arguehe flood insurance
provisions in the contract can be reasonainigierstood as fixing the amount of flood insurance
that is required. Relatedly, tieeurt must decide whether, BOA argues, the flood insurance
provisions in the contract ant BOA the discretion to change the amounts of required flood
insurance.

The Oregon courts have estabéd a three-step process iioterpreting the provisions of
a contact. First, the court dat@nes whether, as a matterlaiv, the relevant provision is
ambiguousMcKay’'s Mkt. of Coos Bay, Inc. v. Picke2l2 Or. App. 7, 12 (2007). A “contractual
provision is ambiguous if its wording can, inntext, reasonably be given more than one
plausible interpretationWilliams v. RJ Reynolds Tobacco C861 Or. 368, 379 (2011). If the
provision is unambiguoushe analysis end¥.ogman v. Parrott325 Or. 358, 361 (1997). If the
provision is ambiguous, the court proceeds to the seconddtap363. The second step must

be determined by the trier of faétac. First Bank v. New Morgan Park Corf19 Or. 342, 347-
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48 (1994). At the second step, thier of fact examines extrinsevidence of the contracting
parties’ intentYogman 325 Or. at 363. If, after examining @rsic evidence, theontract is still
ambiguous, “appropriate maxims of constimt’ are applied at the third stagd. at 364.

If the relevant provisions vém read together—Section five of the trust deed and the
NSFH—are ambiguous, and theraes¢éx at least one plausitlgerpretation in which BOA’s
conduct constitutes a breach, dismissal of the Arr@sch of contract aim at this stage of
the proceedings is inappropriaBeeWestlands Water Dist. v. UniteStates Dep'’t of Interigr
850 F. Supp. 1388, 1408 (E.D. Cal. 1994) (“A motiomlismiss cannot be granted against a
complaint to enforce an ambiguous contract8e also Roling v. E*Trade Sec., LLG6 F.
Supp. 2d 1179, 1188-89 (N.D. Cal. 2010) (“Becausesthez two reasonabieterpretations of
this provision, the contca is ambiguous. Since no extringigidence can be considered at this
stage, the motion to dismiss the breathontract claim mst be denied.”).

Section five of the Arnetts’ trust deed prdes that the Arnetts mtikeep buildings on
the property insured against fis@d “any other hazards inclagj, but not limited to, earthquake
and floods, for which the Lender requires insurdn8ection five also permits the lender to set
the amount of insurance coverage required: sTihsurance shall be maintained in the amounts
(including deductible levels) and for the peridkat Lender requires.” BOA contends that these
provisions “grant[] Bank of America the right thhoose the ‘amounts’ ébod insurance on the
property.” Defs.” Mem. at 13. Further, BOA argutt&e NSFH neither alters nor conflicts with
the trust deed because it “merely specif[teg] ‘minimum’ flood insurance required by the
Lender[.]”1d. at 15. Thus, even when construing the N@sHpart of the contract, BOA “had the
discretion to set theirdbd insurance coveragenount” under the contradd. at 16. The court

finds that this is a plausiblaterpretation of the contacdee Lass v. Bank of Am., N.Ko.
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CIV.A. 11-10570-NMG, 2011 WL 3567280 *4 (D. Magsug. 11, 2011) (finding that similarly
worded mortgage and flood notice “unambiguowglye defendants the discretion to determine
the appropriate amount of floodsurance and to purchase thairance on plaintiff's behalf
should she fail to do so”).

There exists, however, an alternative intetigdren that is also plausible. Under this
interpretation, Section five dfie trust deed does not permit BOA discretion to set the amount of
flood insurance coverage that the borrower mentain because the NSFH “fills in” the trust
deed’s open-ended, discretionary terBsePIls.” Mem. at 14. As noted above, the trust deed
does not expressly require the Arnetts to mairftaod insurance on the property; rather, the
trust deed merely provides that the lenayrequire flood insurance. The trust deed also does
not set the amount of flood insunce that the borrower must imi&in; it provides that the
borrower must maintain the amount of insuratiae the “Lender requas.” Finally, the trust
deed provides that the amount of insurancettieatender requires “cazthange during the term”
of the loan.

The NSFH—which, as discussed above, i$ phthe contract—sets forth what the
“Lender requires.” First, it pragles that the Arnetts must maintain flood insurance. Second, it
fixes the amount of flood insurance that Araetts must maintain: “At a minimum, flood
insurance purchased must cover the lessathefbutstanding loan balance or the maximum
amount of coverage provided by the NFIFhdHy, the NSFH provides that “[t]he flood
insurance must be maintained for the life of thenld In this provision, thdefinite article “the,”
which precedes “flood insurancesignals that the flood insurantteat must be “maintained for
the life of the loan” is the sanféood insurance” described te provision fixing the amount of

insurance that the Arnetts must maintain. In pthherds, the NSFH seter “fills in,” the amount
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of flood insurance that tHender requires for the &fof the loan and that amount is not subject to
change, except as expressly provided for in the NSHHis interpretation gives full effect to the
NSFH’s specific terms governing flood insuranee Williams351 Or. at 379 (court must
“construe the contract so as to geféect to all of its provisions”see als®Or. Rev. Stat.

8 42.230 (“where there are several psows or particulars, suclomstruction is, if possible, to

be adopted as will give effect to all”).

BOA contends that this interpretation fails to account for the phrase “[a]t a minimum,”
which precedes the NSFH'’s description @& tequired amount of flood insurance coverage.
According to BOA, the phrase “[a]t a minim means the NSFH merely identifies the
minimum amount of coverage that the lender mesguire. Defs.” Mem. at4-16; Defs.’ Reply
at 7-8. As noted above, this ipkusible interpretation. It is also plausible, however, that the
phrase “[a]t a minimum” does not mean that th@ant of coverage specified in the NSFH is the
minimum thatthe lender may requirdnstead, “[a]t a minimum”auld mean that the amount of
coverage specified in theS¥H is not the maximum th#te borrower may purchasin other
words, it is also a plausible interpretation that NSFH firmly fixes themount of coverage that
the lender requires but does not prohibit the borrower from obtaining additional coverage if that
is what the borrower wants to do. This alternainterpretation also makes financial sense: the
lender’s financial interest in éhproperty is equal to the amouwidtthe outstanding loan, but the

borrower’s interest may be the entisplacement value of the property.

® The NSFH provides that “flood insurarmarchased must cover the lesser of” the
outstanding loan balance or the maximum amofiobverage provided by the NFIP. Because
Congress or the Federal Emergency Managemgency may change the amount required
under the NFIP, the amount of flood insuca required by the NSFH may chan§ee42
U.S.C.A. 84013 and 44 C.F.R. § 61.6.
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Further, if the original leder intended the NSFH to grdet the minimum amount of
flood insurance that the lender couequire, it could have easityarified the NSFH by adding
clearer and more explicit language. The lendeliat have stated, for example, that the lender
reserved the right, any time dogi the life of the loan, to require more flood insurance than is
required by the federal minimum describedhae NSFH. This would have put a borrower on
clear notice of what could equired and thus render implaulsi the Arnetts’ alternative
interpretation of the contract. €dender, however, did not do that.

Under Plaintiffs’ alternative interpretati, BOA breached the contract by requiring the
Arnetts to obtain more coverage than requbbgdhe NSFH. PIs.” Mem. at 17. Because there are
at least two plausible interpretations of tleatract, the court findthat the contract is
ambiguous. Judgment on the pleadinlgsrefore, is inappropriate.

B. Breach of Implied Covenant ofGood Faith and Fair Dealing

Under Oregon law, every contract contaamsimplied duty of good faith and fair dealing.
Klamath Off-Project Water Uss, Inc. v. Pacificorp237 Or. App. 434, 445 (2011). A duty of
good faith and fair dealing, however, “mlg implied as to a disputed issady if the parties
have not agreed to an exprémsn that governs that issu€tegon Univ. Sys. v. Oregon Pub.
Employees Union, Local 50385 Or. App. 506, 511 (2002) (emphasis added). Thus, the
Arnetts’ breach of the implied duty of good faéthd fair dealing claim (“good faith claim”)
depends on whether the mortgagatcact is found to contain an express term that sets the
amount of required flood insuramcoverage. Compl. § 99. If the contract expressly sets the
amount of flood insurance coverage required, B@d does not have discretion to alter that
amount, the Arnetts’ may only assert a claim faaoh of express contract, not for breach of the

implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, th the other hand, the contract affords BOA
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discretion to set the regiad amount of flood insurance, the Arnetts may have a claim for breach
of the implied duty of good faith and fair dewgi although not for breach of the express terms of
the contractSee Oregon Univ. Sy4.85 Or. App. at 511 (“where botypes of claims are at

issue on review, a breach of express contrashaaould be analyzed before a claim of breach

of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing”).

If the trier of fact concludes that the catt provides BOA with discretion to set the
amount of required flood insuranceverage, the extent to white Arnetts may still maintain
their good faith claim is unclear. As discusselblwe Oregon’s law regarding the implied duty
of good faith and fair dealing has undergone sultisieevolution ovethe last twenty-five years.
Because the viability of the Arnetts’ good fadflaim is dependent on the trier of fact’s
interpretation of the contract, and becailseparties have ndadroughly briefed Oregon’s
implied duty of good faith and fair dealing law, ttw@urt declines at this time to decide whether
the Arnetts’ have stated a clafor breach of the implied covenant.

Nonetheless, before moving on, the court dbes some of the changes in Oregon’s law
in order to develop the issue for the parties’Hartbriefing at a later stage of these proceedings.
The Arnetts argue that the implied duty of goaithfand fair dealing mhibits one party from
“utilize[ing] the discretion it may have under tbentract to frustratéhe parties’ reasonable
expectations under the contract.” Pls.” M&n20. The Arnetts base this argument on the
Oregon Supreme Court’s decisiorBast v. U.S. Nat. Bank of Oreg@®3 Or. 557 (1987). PIs’
Mem. at 20-21. IBest the Court held that when one paya contract has unlimited discretion
to set an open-ended price tetimat party’s discretion ismiumscribed by both parties’
reasonable expectations:

When one party to a contract is givdiscretion in the pgormance of some
aspect of the contract, the parties ordinarily contemplate that that discretion will
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be exercised for particular purposes. # thiscretion is exercised for purposes not

contemplated by the parties, the partgreising discretion has performed in bad

faith.

Id. at 563. According t®est determination of the partiesasonable expedians involves a
guestion of factld. at 565-66 (“we believe th@ihere is a genuine issoématerial fact whether
the Bank set its . . . fees in accordance withrdasonable expectatiooisthe parties”). The
Court considered, for example, what feesphgdies discussed at the time the contract was
executed and what the parties subjectively understood the agreement tddeait=atl65-66.

In several later cases, however, the Oregopreme Court appears to have constrained
its holding inBest In Tolbert v. First Nat. Bank of Oregp812 Or. 485 (1991), which began as
a companion case Best the Court held that “it is only ¢hobjectively reasonable expectations
of parties that will be examaadl in determining whether tlmbligation of good faith has been
met.” Id. at 494. Accordingly, the Court found that fhearties’ agreement to a contract that
expressly provided one party withscretion to set price term&s evidence of the parties’
reasonable expectationd.

In Pac. First Bank v. New Morgan Park Corf319 Or. 342 (1994), anidptown Heights
Assoc. Ltd. P’ship v. Seafirst Corf320 Or. 638 (1995), the Court mtfurther and appears to
have held that the express terof the contract represent tly relevant evidence of the
parties’ reasonable expectatioifius, when a contract expressly provides for a unilateral
exercise of discretion, the duty of good faith cannot circumscréiedtbcretion: “[T]he duty of
good faith operates to effectuate the reasonafpecatations of the paels as determined under
the terms of their contract. Hetbose terms demonstrate that the parties agreed to—that is,
reasonably expected—a unilateral, whrieted exercise of discretiorPac. First Bank319 Or.

at 354;Uptown Heights Assoc. Ltd. P’ship20 Or. at 647-48 (“the reasonable contractual
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expectations of the piées are shown[] by thenambiguougerms of the contract” (emphasis
added; internal quotation marks and citation om))teNeither case, however, appears to discuss
how the law governing the implied covenant of good faith may apply to a contract that is
ambiguous.

In addition, when a contract provides fosctetion, but does not@ride for a method of
exercising that discretion, the duty of gdadh and fair dealing may still applee Uptown
Heights Assoc. Ltd. P’shi@20 Or. at 647 Bestis inapposite[] because in that summary
judgment case that bank had the discretion tanféin open price term, and no method of setting
the . . . fee was spelled outthre depositors’ contracts.”). Furtheeveral more recent Oregon
Court of Appeals cases have found that deteatian of the parties'easonable expectations
raises a question of fact anthy include evidence from outside the terms of the conBaet.
e.g, Brown v. Am. Prop. Mgmt. Cord67 Or. App. 53, 63 (2000) (“upon our review of the
record, we conclude that thaseevidence . . . from which a jury could have concluded that
defendant exercised its &ofity . . . in bad faith”)Cantua v. Creagerl69 Or. App. 81, 97
(2000) (“the question of wheth#re defendant acted with thegesite bad motive is a question
of fact for the jury.”);lron Horse Eng’g Co., Inc. v. Nw. Rubber Extruders,,|283 Or. App.
402, 421 (2004) (“holding the parties to indysttandards and practis effectuates the
reasonable contractual expeatas of the parties”). The aa will await a more thorough
presentation by the parties of these issuéiseaaippropriate time latén these proceedings.

C. Unjust Enrichment

The “elements of the quasi-contractuaiel of unjust enrichmd are ‘a benefit

conferred, awareness by the recipient that a benefitdesreceived and, under the

circumstances, it would be unjust to allow retemtdf the benefit withoutequiring the recipient
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to pay for it.”” Summer Oaks Ltd. P’ship v. McGinléB3 Or. App. 645, 654 (2002) (quoting
Jaqgua v. Nike, In¢125 Or. App. 294, 298 (1993). There “canbeta valid legally enforceable
contract and an implied contrasivering the same service®restige Homes Real Estate Co. v.
Hanson 151 Or. App. 756, 762 (1997). In the first countredir Complaint, the Arnetts’ allege
that they conferred a benetiit Defendants “in the form afvercharges for force-placed
insurance policies,” Defendantsvesknowledge of this benefiind Defendants “will be unjustly
enriched if they are allowed to retain the benefit[.]” Compl.{ 68&BOA argues that the
unjust enrichment claim must be dismissed bgeauvalid contract—the mortgage—covers the
services at issue—flood insu@ncoverage. Defs.” Mem. at 19.

In response, the Arnetts argue that BOA tsefs to admit that it is a party to the
mortgage contract, admitting only that it is Hegvicer of the mortgage.” PIs.” Mem. at 27
(emphasis omitted). At oral argument, however, BOA expressly admitted being party to the
contract:® Oral Argument Transcript at 13-14. @Arnetts’ unjust enrichment claim is,
therefore, provisionally dismisdelf it later becomes evidentahBOA is not party to, or

otherwise obligated by, the Arnetts’ comtrathe court may reinstate this claim.

19 The Arnetts argue that even if BOA iparty to the contract, their unjust enrichment
claim should not be dismissed because BO®W®roper conduct . . . is extrinsic to the
contract.” Pls.” Mem. at 30. As noted above, hogreunjust enrichment claims are only viable
where a contract does not cover the servicessae. Here, the parties do not dispute that the
contract covers flood insurance. The fact thaairty may have engaged in conduct that is not
authorized by the contract toetlletriment of the other party does not permit the other party to
maintain both unjust enrichment and breach ofremticlaims. Because the contract covers flood
insurance and both BOA and tAenetts are party to it, BOA’ alleged condu@onstituting a
breach is redressable only by a breach of contract dk@mHood Const. Co. v. Pac. Coast
Const., Inc.203 Or. App. 768, 772 (2006) (“if the partiewvba valid contract, any remedies for
breach flow from that contract, and a party cannot recovguantum meruifor matters covered
by the contract”).
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D. Conversion

“To state a claim for conversion, a party mestablish the intéional exercise of
dominion or control over a chattektihso seriously interferes withe right of andter to control
it that the actor may justly be required to pay the full value of the chattaliert v. No
Problem Harry, Inc.222 Or. App. 151, 159-60 (2008). Thenatts allege that Defendants
unlawfully converted “specificrad readily identifiable fundsom [Defendants’] mortgage
customers’ escrow accounts” and retaitiexbe “funds unlawfullyvithout consent of
Plaintiffs[.]” Compl. 11 118, 120. BOA argues thila¢ Arnetts’ “conversion claim must fail for
the same reason their breach of contract cfails.” Defs.” Mem. at 19. That is, BOA argues,
“because Bank of America acted within the tasion granted it by the Mortgage, and thus it
never interfered with [the] rightsf Plaintiffs[.]” Defs.” Mem.at 19. As noted above, the Arnetts
have stated a claim for breach of contragic8ise BOA bases its response to the Arnetts’
conversion claim on BOA'’s respontethe contract claim, the Aetts conversion claim survives
Defendants’ motion for judgent on the pleadings.

In its reply brief, BOA argues that the Arnettsnversion claim must be dismissed for an
“independent reason.” Defs.” Reply at B®DA argues under Oregon law there can be no

conversion of money unlessias “‘wrongfully receivedy the party charged with
conversion.”ld. (quotingWood Indus. Corp. v. Rgsg71 Or. 103, 108 (1975) (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted)). BOA aamds that it never “wrongfully received”
money from the Arnetts: “Plaintiffs do not stateonversion claim with spect to either [the
2010 Garage Policy or the Home Policy] for theependent reason that Bank of America has

not received—much less ‘wrongly received’'—money from fte Arnetts] for flood insurance

premiums.”ld. The court declines at this time to cales this “independent reason” because it
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was raised for the first time in BOA's reply briéfss’'n of Irritated Residents v. C & R
Vanderham Dairy435 F. Supp. 2d 1078, 1089 (E.D. Cal. 2008)i$‘inappropriate to consider
arguments raised for the first time in a reply brief.”).
E. Breach of Fiduciary Duty

The Arnetts also claim that BOA breached its fiduciary duty to the Arnetts by
“unilaterally using escrow funds to purchasectm-placed flood insurance that Plaintiff . . .
w[as] not required to obtain[.]” Compl.  111. $@te a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, the
Arnetts must first establish thBOA owed them a fiduciary dutfdennett v. Farmers Ins. Co. of
Oregon 332 Or. 138, 160 (2001) (“unless plaintiff's reteship with . . . defendant qualifies as
the type of ‘special relationshighat gives rise toa fiduciary duty, no breach of duty can have
occurred). Under Oregon law glexistence of a fiduciary dutiepends on whether the parties
are in a special relatiohgp such that one party “exercise{stiependent judgment in the [other]
party’s behalf and in th@ther] party’s interests”:

Another way to characterize the typegealationships in which a heightened duty

of care exists is that thgarty who owes the duty haspecial responsibility

toward the other party. This is so because the party who is owed the duty

effectively has authorized the party wbwes the duty to exercise independent
judgment in the former party’s behatidiin the former party’s interests.

Conway v. Pac. Uniy324 Or. 231, 240 (1996) (emphasis iigoral). Ordinarily, an escrow
holder does not owe a fiducyaduty to a depositoMcDonald v. Title Ins. Co. of Oregp#9 Or.
App. 1055, 1059 (1980). An escrow holder may have fiduciary duties, however, where the
escrow terms “differ significantly from usual escrow arrangemeAisslie v. First Interstate
Bank of OregonN.A., 148 Or. App. 162, 180 (1997). Minslie, the Oregon Court of Appeals
found that an Oregon Administrative Rule govegthe establishment of escrow accounts for
certain securities transaction#hich “expressly requires that aust relationship ast,” created a

fiduciary relationship betweendtescrow holder and investold. at 180-83.
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The Arnetts allege that BOA owed themdufttiary duty because BOA is “obligated to
hold [the] escrow funds in trust[.]” Compl.11.0. This appears to a conclusory allegation.
Section three of the trust deed, which contpirmisions concerning ¢huse of an escrow
account for the payment of insurance premiumss thae indicate that escrow funds are to be
held “in trust” for the benefibf the Arnetts. No other documehiat has been presented to the
court requires BOA to hold escrow funds “in truitt the benefit of the Aretts. The court is not
required to accept as true a plaintiff's allegations that “do nothing more than state a legal
conclusion—even if that conclusion is tasthe form of a factual allegationMoss v. U.S.
Secret Sery572 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir. 2009).

In addition, the Arnetts do natlege any other circumstargcthat would indicate that
they are in a special relationship with BOA .€TArnetts do not allege, for example, that they
authorized BOA to exercise independerdgment on their behalf. Moreover, the Arnetts’
relationship with BOA as borrower afehder is not fiduciary in natur&icdaniel v. BAC Home
Loans Servicing, LANo. 10-6143-HO, 2011 WL 1261387 *6 (D. Or. Mar. 31, 2011) (citing
Uptown Heights Assoc. LtdB20 Or. at 650). Accordingly, the Aetts have failed to establish
that BOA owed them a fiduciary duty. Theiath for breach of fiduciy duty is, therefore,
dismissed.

F. Truth in Lending Act

TILA, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1601et seq. “requires a creditor to dikxse information relating to
such things as finance charges, annual percensde® of interest, and borrowers’ rights . . . and
it prescribes civil liability for ay creditor who fails to do so[.Koons Buick Pontiac GMC, Inc.
v. Nigh 543 U.S. 50, 54 (2004). “TILA entrusts thedEeal Reserve Board with implementation

of the Act, and the agency has imposed awere precise disclosure requirements via
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Regulation Z,” codifiecat 12 C.F.R. 88 226 dt seqHauk v. JP Morgan Chase Bank US52
F.3d 1114, 1118 (9th Cir. 2009) (intert quotation marks omittedeel5 U.S.C. § 1607. In
particular, 15 U.S.C. § 1638 and 12 C.FR26.18, which govern closed-end transactions
such as residential home loans, require thattheditor must disclose the credit’s “finance
charge” before “the credit is extended.” 155LC. § 1638(a)(3), (b)(1); 12 C.F.R. 88 226.17(b),
226.18(d).

TILA defines the “finance charge” as, in pdthe sum of all charges, payable directly or
indirectly by the person to whom the credieidended, and imposed directly or indirectly by the
creditor as an incident to the extension efdit.”15 U.S.C. § 1605(a). In general, premiums “or
other charge[s] for any guarantee or insurgrogecting the creditor against the obligor’'s
default or other credit loss” are part of the “finance charge’theatreditor must disclose. 15
U.S.C. § 1638(a)(5). There is, however, an ettoapA creditor need not disclose “[p]Jremiums
for insurance against loss of or damage to ptgpé the “insurance coverage may be obtained
from a person of the consumer’s choice, amglftict is disclosed.12 C.F.R. § 226.4(d)(2).

The Arnetts appear to alle¢@o separate theories undehnich BOA violated TILA: In
one, the Arnetts allege that BQAvlated TILA by failing to inclide the cost of flood insurance
premiums in the finance charge at the timedtiginal lender and the Arnetts consummated the

mortgage loan. In the other, the Arnettsgdi¢hat BOA was required to issue new TILA

1 TILA provides distinct rquirements for open-end and closed-end credit arrangements.
Open-end credit plans are those in which ‘treditor reasonably contemplates repeated
transactions.” 15 U.S.C. § 1602(j); 12 C.F.R2%.2(a)(20). Credit car@gmd home equity lines
of credit are examples of open-end credit pl&esHofstetter v. Chase Home Fin., LLZ51 F.

Supp. 2d 1116, 1124 (N.D. Cal. 2010). Closed-enags#etions “includesrgy credit arrangement
that does not fall within the deition of open-end credit.” 12 E.R. Pt. 226, Supp. I; 12 C.F.R.
§ 226.2(a)(10). “The disclosure requirementsdpen-end credit transactions and closed-end
credit transactions are segregated different sections of the regulation®éndler v. Corus
Bank 272 F.3d 992, 998 (7th Cir. 2001).
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disclosures when BOA “changletfije terms of mortgage loans..after origination without
consent and demand[ed] more insurance than previously required[.]” Compl. { 76. Under either
theory, the Arnetts have failed t@st a claim for violation of TILA.

With respect to the Arnetts’ first theory, tAenetts have not suffiently pled that flood
insurance premiums constituted a “finance charge” that the original lender was required to
disclose under 15 U.S.C. § 1638(a) and 12R..B.226.18. The trust deed provides in Section
five that the Arnetts may choose their own inssirén addition, BOA states that on the date the
loan was consummated, the Arnetts receivadtie stating that the Arnetts could obtain
insurance from “anyone that is actage to the creditor.” DefsMem. at 26. The Arnetts have
not alleged otherwise. Consequently, the meglflood insurance siafies the exception
provided in 12 C.F.R § 226.4(d)(2ndthe initial lender was not reiged to include the cost of
flood insurance premiums in the finance charge.

With respect to the Arnetts’ second theorg #frnetts have failed to establish that TILA
required BOA to issue new TILA disclosures when BOA placed additional flood insurance. As
noted above, except in certain cinastances not appliciebhere, TILA requires the creditor to
make disclosureiseforethe credit is extendeld.15 U.S.C. § 1638(b)(1) (“the disclosures
required . . . shall be made before the crsditxtended”); 12 C.F.R8 226.17(b) (“The creditor

shall make disclosures befarensummation of the transactioft). Even if TILA required

12 TILA requires the creditaio issue new disclosuregter a refinancing or the
assumption of the mortgage loan by a new objignd in certain variable-rate adjustments. 12
C.F.R. 8 226.20(a)-(c). New disslares are also required afteanlges in the terms of certain
private education loans. 12 C.F.R. § 226.48(b)(4%& Ametts have not alleged that any of these
circumstances are present here. The Arnettdtibbard v. Fidelity Federal Banl®1 F.3d 75,

79 n.7 (9th Cir. 1996), for the proposititrat TILA requires ongoing disclosurg$ubbard
however, only required ongoing disclosures bectuseredit extended was an adjustable rate
mortgage and the lender was requit@8end payment adjustment notices.
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ongoing notices, however, BOA'’s flood insurancguieements would still be subject to the
exemption provided by 12 C.F.R. 8 226.4(d)(2)tHe letters that BOA sent to the Arnetts
requiring the Arnetts to purchase additional flansurance, BOA expressly provided that the
Arnetts may purchase the insuranaarirthe insurer of their choic8eeDkt. 23-1, Ex. 4; 23-2,
Ex. 5; 23-3, Ex. 9¢

In their briefing, the Arnetts rely ofravis v. Boulevard Bank N.A880 F. Supp. 1226
(N.D. 1ll. 1995), to argue that TILA rpiires BOA to issue new disclosuresThavis, the
defendant bank and the plaintitatered a retail sales installment contract to finance the
purchase of a cald. at 1231. After the consummationtbe contract, the bank purchased
default insurance and added the amount optbeeniums to the plaintiffs’ existing delbdl.
at 1229. The “Plaintiffs argued that these chaogestituted new ‘finance charges,’ and that
these new finance charges constituted a newtdradsaction requiring Defendant to make new
disclosures” pursuant to TILAd. The court agreed, holding tHahe Defendant’s purchase of
the allegedly unauthorized insurance and theesypent addition of the resulting premiums to
Plaintiffs’ existing indebtedness cditgted a new credit transactiorid. Several cases
following Travis have endorsed that holdirgee, e.gBegala v. PNC Bank, Ohio, Nat. Ass’'n
163 F.3d 948, 951 n.1 (6th Cir. 1998B€&gala I) (Travis “correctly concluded that the

insurance purchase ‘and the subsequent addititreaksulting premiums to Plaintiffs’ existing

13 «Consummation” means “the time that@sumer becomes conttaally obligated on
a credit transaction.” 12.F.R. 8§ 226.2(a)(13).

14 These exhibits are copies of the lets=at by BOA to the Arrits stating that the
Arnetts must purchase additional flood insurance. Because these letters are referenced in the
Complaint, Compl. 1 27-29, 32-35, 37, the coury e@nsider them when deciding a Rule 12(c)
motion.See United States v. Ritch842 F.3d 903, 908 (9th Cir. 2003) (“court may . . . consider
... documents incorporated by reference irctiraplaint . . . without converting the motion to
dismiss into a motion fasummary judgment”).
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indebtedness constituted a new credit transactioWyif v. Bank of Am., N.A798 F. Supp. 2d
586, 599 (E.D. Pa. 2011Yician v. Wells Fargo Home MortgNo. 2:05-CV-144, 2006 WL
694740 (N.D. Ind. Mar. 16, 2006).

The Arnetts, however, have failed to allege facts in their Complaint that Tnakis
applicable here. The courtirravisfound that a new creditansaction had taken place,
requiring new TILA disclosures, because the baa#t increased the amount of the plaintiffs’
debt.See Begala v. PNC Bank, Ohio, Nat. As81¥ F.3d 776, 780 (6th Cir. 2000Bggala 11”)
(finding thatTravisrequired new disclosures becauselthek increased the principal amount of
the plaintiffs’ indebtedness). this case, the Arnetts have not alleged that BOA added the cost
of flood insurance premiums to the Arnetisitstanding principal on their mortgage Idasee
Compl. 11 34, 40, 69-80. The Arnetts’ TILA claimtiserefore, dismissed. If the Arnetts can
allege that BOA increased the overall amourthefArnetts’ principal, as replead, they may be
able to state a TILA claim.

G. Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act

RESPA, 12 U.S.C. 8§ 26t seq, “regulates the market foeal estate ‘settlement
services,” a term defined by gi&t to include ‘any service praled in connection with a real
estate settlement[.]Freeman v. Quicken Loans, Iné32 S. Ct. 2034, 2037-38 (2012) (quoting
12 U.S.C. 2602(3)). “Among RESPA'’s consumentpction provisions i§ 2607, which directly
furthers Congress’s stated goal of ‘eliminat[ing] kickbacks or refeat fees that tend to

increase unnecessarily the costsearftain settlement servicetd. (quoting 12 U.S.C.

15 Section five of the trust deed permits keder to add the cost of insurance premiums
to the principalSeeDkt. 23-1. The Arnetts also allege gealy that Defendants added “the cost
of force-placed insurances lborrowers’ loan balances[.Compl. { 49. Notwithstanding this
general allegation, however, the Arnetts haveatleged that BOA added the cost of any flood
insurance premiums their outstanding principal.
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8§ 2601(b)(2)). Section 2607(a) makes it unlawfuiaccept any fee, kickback, or thing of value
pursuant to any agreement . . . that business imicideor a part of aeal estate settlement
service involving a federallselated mortgage loan shbk referred to any person.”

Section 2607(b) makes it unlawful to “accept any portion, split, or percentage of any charge
made or received for the rendering of a real estate settlement service in connection with a
transaction involving a federally related moggdoan other than feservices actually
performed.” The Arnetts allege that Defentaviolated bothigbsection (a) and (b) by
“receiving fees, kickbacks and/or other thingvalue in connection witbbtaining force-placed
insurance from . . . Balboa and/or other affiliated companies” and “accept[ing] portions, splits or
percentages of premiums charged for for@eetl insurance, wibut performing actual
services.” Compl. 1 87-88.

BOA argues that the Arnetts’ RESPA ahashould be dismissed because § 2607 only
applies to “real estate settlement servicaad BOA’s placement ofdbd insurance occurred
more than two years after the Arnetts settladrttoan. Defs.’s Mem. at 23-25. The court agrees.
“Settlement service means any service providezbnnection with a prospective or actual
settlement[.]” 24 C.F.R. § 3500.2. Settlement nsedime process of executing legally binding
documents regarding a lien on property that isextttip a federally related mortgage loan. This
process may also be called ‘closing”escrow’ in different jurisdictions.Id. BOA’s placement
of flood insurance was performed years afterAlnnetts closed on their home loan. RESPA
“does not focus on post-settlement fees bgidnortgagors after thdyave purchased their

houses.’Bloom v. Martin 77 F.3d 318, 321 (9th Cir. 199@Jplosky v. Washington Mut., Inc.

Page 28 — OPINION AND ORDER



664 F.3d 109, 118 (6th Cir. 2011) (Section 260@€'s not apply to fees assessed after a
property’s settlement”}® Accordingly, the Arnetts’ RESPA claim is dismissed.
H. Oregon’s Unlawful Debt Collection Practices Act

The Arnetts assert that BOAolated two subsections tfe UDCPA. The first, Or. Rev.
Stat. 8 646.639(2)(k) (“subsection)’(k makes it unlawful for a “dbt collector, while collecting
or attempting to collect a debt, . . . [to] [a]ttenpDr threaten to enfoe a right or remedy with
knowledge or reason to know thihe right or remedy does nextist[.]” The second, Or. Rev.
Stat. § 646.639(2)(n) (“subsection’n makes it unlawful for “a det collector, while collecting
or attempting to collect a debt, to. [c]ollect or attempt to dect any interest or any other
charges or fees in excess of the actual debssitkeey are expressly authorized by the agreement
creating the debt or eressly allowed by law.”

In Porter v. Hill, 314 Or. 86 (1992), the Oregon Supreme Court held that subsection (k)
does not make it unlawful to attempt to collededt that does not exidnstead, subsection (k)
prohibits abusive debt collection metholik.at 92. InHedrick v. Spearl38 Or. App. 53, 60
(1995), the Oregon Court of Appeals applieel same holding to subsection (n): As “does
paragraph (k), paragraph (n) assumes the exst@ngossible existence of the debt and focuses

on ameansof collection: the addingf unauthorized chargedd. at 61 (emphasis in original).

1% plaintiffs argue that BOA's placementflfod insurance was aakestate settlement
service because a “settlement” occurred WBE®A executed the “the force-placed insurance
contract.” Pls.” Mem. at 38. To make this argnt) Plaintiffs cite 24 C.F.R. § 3500.2 and state,
in an explanatory parentheticéhat 8 3500.2 defines “settleméast the ‘process of executing
legally binding documents regamngd a lien on property.” Pls.” Mem. at 38. If this were the
entirety of the definition, Plaintiffs might i@ advanced a meritorious argument. Plaintiffs,
however, fail to include the immediatelyiftawing sentence in § 3500.2’s definition of
“settlement”: “This process may also be calledsalgy’ or ‘escrow’ in diferent jurisdictions.”
That sentence makes clear that “settlemeri€rseto the a specifievent commonly understood,
in this jurisdicton, as the “closing.”
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The Oregon legislature’s “ovdraoncern in enacting the UCPRvas with the coercive or
abusivemethodsften employed to enforce debtadanot with whether the alleged debts
actuallyexist” Steele v. A & B Auto. & Towing Serv., Int35 Or. App. 632, 641 (1995)
(emphasis in original).

In light of these decisions, the Arnefitsl to state a cognizable claim under either
subsection (k) or (n). It appears from the AtsiecComplaint that the alleged debts are the
premiums for additional flood insurance coage that BOA demanded that the Arnetts
purchasé’ Compl. 1 130. The Arnetts assert that B@@lated subsection (k) by threatening to
force-place additional insuranadnen the Arnetts did not, ondin own, purchase that additional
coverage. Compl.  131. The Arnetts’ assat BOA violated sulesction (n) by collecting
“interest, fee, and commission income on the [force-placed] polices.” Compl. § 132. The Arnetts’
claim fails because it is premised on éxéstence of the alleged debt, not onrtiethod
employed to enforce the debt. The Arnetts dodmyute that force-plaag insurance is not, by
itself, an abusive debt collection meth&&ePls.” Mem. at 43-44. Rathethey argue that “force-
placing insurancéhat is not required by contract or laws an abusive debt collection method.
Pls.” Mem. at 44 (emphasis added). The phrasadt required by contraot law,” however,
reveals that the Arnetts’ claim is premisedwdrether the underlying 8és—the premiums for
additional flood insurance coverage—were permittgthe contract. Because the permissibility
of the debt collection method the Arnetts comptirs wholly dependent on the validity of the

alleged debt, the Arnetts’ claim reduces tospdie about whether the alleged debt actually

17 The Arnetts’ Complaint fails to state thikearly. In fact, the Complaint does not
contain any allegations that idéy the alleged debt. This failumone could warrant dismissing
the Arnetts’ claim. Because, however, the AsidJDCPA allegations face more fundamental
legal deficiencies, the court attempts to clarify the Arnetts’ apparent intent so that it may address
the fundamental problems.
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exists. AsPorter and its progeny make clear, the UDCPA is not aladwgther an alleged debt
actually exists. The Arnetts’ UDCP@&aim is, therefore, dismissed.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons and to the foregoing extent, Defendants’ Motion for Judgment
on the Pleadings (Dkt. 25) GRANTED IN PART A ND DENIED IN PART as follows:
Plaintiffs’ Counts I, II, lll, V, and VIl are dismsed, and Plaintiffs’ Counts IV and VI are not
dismissed.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

DATED this 11th day of July, 2012.

& Michadel H. Simon
Michael H. Simon
United States District Judge
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